SUPREME COURT NO. (\ \0 ~ '5-~ 
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 45000-3-11 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

fFO[!/D) 
MAR i 0 2015 

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT 
~ STAlE OF WASHINGTON f''"'-

IN RE THE DETENTION OF JOHN C. ANOE~SO~~. ~ 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

FILED IN COA ON FEBRUARY 26, 2015 

MARIE J. TROMBLEY, WSBA 41410 
Attorney for Petitioner 

PO Box 829 
Graham, WA 

509.939.3038 
marietrombl.ey@comcast. net

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner John C. Anderson, asks this Court to review the 

decision by the Court of Appeals, Division II, referred to in 

Section B. 

8, COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Anderson seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished 

decision 1 that concluded the law of case doctrine barred him 

from raising the issue of whether he was one of the individuals 

subject to the defined classes of individuals subject to RCW 

71.09. He also seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision 

that under the law of case doctrine it would not consider 

whether his purported acts constituted a recent overt act, 

despite this Court's holding that the question of whether the acts 

were recent and overt would need to be proved in a second 

trial.2 The Court of Appeals decision is attached as an 

appendix. 

lJn re Detention of John Charles Anderson, Court of Appeals No. 45000-
3-11, filed January 27, 2015 
2 In re Detention of Anderson 166 Wn.2d 543,552,211 P.3d 994 
(2009). 
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C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

(1) RCW 71.09 authorizes the State to file a petition for 

commitment on certain classes of individuals. The superior 

court exceeds its statutory authority when it enters a 

judgment for civil commitment under RCW 71.09 on an 

individual who is not within a class of individuals subject to 

the statute. 

(2) The Washington Supreme Court held that whether Mr. 

Anderson's sexual contacts with fellow WSH patients 

constituted recent overt acts would need to be proven at the 

new trial. Mr. Anderson was denied a constitutional right to 

due process when the Court of Appeals declined to review 

the issue by holding under the law of the case doctrine the 

acts were overt. 

(3) The Evidence Was Insufficient To Prove Beyond A 

Reasonable Doubt That Mr. Anderson Should Be Confined 

Under RCW 71.09. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The relevant facts are contained in the Brief of Appellant 

filed January 15, 2014, pp. 2-15, and are herein incorporated by 

reference. 

2 



" 'V I ' 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

This Court should address the issues raised in Mr. 

Anderson's petition because it raises a significant constitutional 

issue under Washington State Constitution and the U.S. 

Constitution, is in direct conflict with a decision by this Court, and 

involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2),(3) and (4). 

1. The LeiW of the Case Doctrine Should Not Be Applied To 

Mr. Anderson's Claim That He Does Not Fall Within A Class 

Of Individuals Subject To RCW 71.09. 

Division II of the Court of Appeals correctly reasoned that the 

phrase "subject matter jurisdiction", used at trial, in appellant's 

briefs and the State's response brief, did not properly summarize 

Mr. Anderson's complaint. Rather, the trial court error, briefed by 

both parties at trial and on appeal, was that Mr. Anderson is not 

within any class of individuals subject to RCW 71.09, and the trial 

court exceeded its statutory authority when it denied the motion to 

dismiss the State's petition. 

Declining to answer the question of whether Mr. Anderson is 

subject to RCW 71.09, the Court of Appeals held the law of case 

3 
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doctrine barred him from raising this issue after failure to raise it 

after "13 years, 2 trials, and 2 appeals". (Slip Op. at 7). 

The Court of Appeals misconstrues the history and the 

application of the law of the case doctrine. The State filed a petition 

fqr commitment in February 2000. His first trial occurred in 2004. 

He successfully appealed to the Court of Appeals in 2006. Both 

parties sought review to this Court and a decision affirming the 

reversal and remand for a new trial was issued in 2009. Anderson, 

166 Wn.2d at 546. He was not retried until 2013. The issue of 

whether Mr. Anderson was subject to RCW 71.09 was raised in this 

second trial. 

The law of the case doctrine is a discretionary rule which 

presumes that rulings on a prior appeal will not be reviewed again. 

First Small Business lnv. CO. v. lntercapital Corp. 108 Wn.2d 324, 

333, 738 P.2d 263 (1987). Where a "question was not considered 

... upon the first appeal, and ... [the appellant] is not precluded from 

now raising the question [on remand], [it] does not fall within the 

rule of 'the law of the case."' Columbia Steel Co. v. State, 34 

Wn.2d 700, 706, 209 P.2d 482 (1949), cert. denied, 339 U.S. 903, 

70 S.Ct. 516, 94 LEd. 1332 (1950). The law of the case doctrine 

does not and should not apply to issues that were not addressed in 

4 
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an earlier ruling, and particularly where, as here, the Court of 

Appeals and this Court reversed and remanded for a new trial. 

This Court expressly stated, "Whether or not Anderson's conduct 

amounted to a recent overt act, as with the other elements of the 

State's case, will have to be proved at that new trial." /d. at 552. 

This Court did not expressly rule that Mr. Anderson was subject to 

RCW71.09. 

Even if it could somehow be inferred that the Court ruled on 

the issue in the first trial, RAP 2.5(3)(c) provides that where the 

same case is again before the appellate court following a remand: 

(1) if a trial court·decision is otherwise properly before the appellate 

court, the appellate court may at the instance of a party review and 

determine the propriety of a decision of the trial court even though a 

similar decision was not disputed in an earlier review of the same 

case. And (2) the appellate court may at the instance of a party 

review the propriety of an earlier decision of the appellate court in 

the same case and, where justice would best be served, decide the 

case on the basis of the appellate court's opinion of the law at the 

time of the later review. 

5 



Mr. Anderson argues that it was error to conclude he was 

subject to RCW 71.09. Failure to review the issue has resulted in 

unfairness to him and the perpetuation of judicial error. 

2. The Superior Court Exceeds Its Statutory Authority When 

It Enters A Judgment For Civil Commitment Under RCW 

71.09 On An Individual Who Is Not Within A Class Of 

Individuals Subject To The Statute. 

The massive and potentially permanent curtailment of liberty 

at stake in a civil commitment requires the authorizing statute to be 

narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest. State v. 

Beaver, 336 P.3d 654, 660 (2014). As written, Washington courts 

have found RCW 71.09 a constitutional statute. In re Det. of 

Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d 1, 7, 51 P.3d 73 (2002). 

Under a strict reading of RCW 71.09 the Washington 

6 



(e) a person who at any time previously has been convicted 

of a sexually violent offense and has since been released 

from confinement and committed a recent overt act. 

RCW 71.09.030(1 )(a),(b),(e). (Emphasis added). 

The statute unambiguously and specifically limits the 

classes of persons subject to commitment as a sexually violent 

predator. The statute does not reach persons, like Mr. Anderson, 

who were found to have committed a sexually violent offense as a 

juvenile, but have since been released from total confinement. 

When the meaning of statutory language is plain on its face, 

the court must give effect to that plain meaning. City of Spokane v. 

Spokane County, 158 Wn.2d 661, 673, 146 P.3d 893 (2006). In 

determining plain meaning, the reviewing court considers the 

language of the provision, as well as related statutes or other 

p'rovisions in the same act that disclose legislative intent. /d. 

Under the Washington legislative scheme, an order of a 

court adjudging a child a juvenile offender is not to be deemed a 

conviction of a crime. RCW 13.04.240. The only time adjudication 

has the same meaning as conviction is for purposes of sentencing 

of sentencing under RCW 9.94A. RCW 13.04.011. Statutes that 

involve a deprivation of liberty must be strictly construed; a court 

cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the 
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legislature has chosen not to include that language; the court must 

assume the legislature means exactly what it said. In reCross, 99 

Wn.2d 373, 379, 662 P.2d 828 (1983); In re Det. of Hawkins, 169 

Wn.2d 796,801,238 P.3d 1175 (2010);State v. Delgado, 148 

Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). 

Case law distinguishes the purposes for which juvenile 

adjudications are considered convictions in adult proceedings. 

(See State v. Johnson, 118 Wn.App. 259, 76 P.3d 265 (2003) 

ouvenile adjudications are properly considered in determining an 

adult offender score, as the SRA is concerned with punishing adult 

offenders with the same criminal history to the same extent.); State 

v. Cheatham, 80 Wn.App. 269, 273, 908 P.2d 381 (1996)(juvenile 

disposition can serve as a predicate offense in prosecution of felon 

in possession of a firearm)). 

By contrast, in Weaver, the petitioner had been charged in 

juvenile court with two counts of child rape. In re Weaver, 84 

Wn.App. 290, 929 P.2d 445 (1996). He successfully pleaded not 

guilty by reason of insanity and relying on RCW 10.77, the juvenile 

court ordered him hospitalized until age 21. /d. at 291. He was 

transferred at age 18 to WSH. /d. at 291. In a personal restraint 

petition, he argued, and the Court affirmed that he was not subject 
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to commitment under RCW 10.77. Weaver, 84 Wn.App. at 293-94. 

Relying on juvenile statutes, the Court reasoned that an act, which 

would be a crime if committed by an adult, is not a crime, and thus 

not a felony if committed by a juvenile. (See RCW 13.04.240; RCW 

13.40.020(19); RCW 13.40.020(15) and RCW 13.40.020(1)). By 

statute, Weaver's juvenile offense could not be a felony and the 

statute authorizing commitment of defendants acquitted of a felony 

by reason of insanity did not authorize commitment of a juvenile 

who had been acquitted in juvenile court of first-degree child rape 

by reason of insanity. /d. at 295. 

Similarly, here, by statute, a petition may only be filed on an 

individual found to have committed a sexually violent offense as a 

juvenile who is about to be released from confinement. The statute 

simply does not reach persons, like Mr. Anderson, who committed 

a sexually violent offense as a juvenile, but have since been 

released from total confinement. 

A court does not have the authority to rewrite a statute even 

if it believes the legislature intended something else but failed to 

adequately express it. In re Det. of Martin, 163 Wn.2d 501, 509, 

182 P.3d 951 (2008). If the legislature has enacted a statue with a 

perceived omission, such as a class of individuals like Mr. 

9 
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Anderson, the Court may not correct it unless the entire statute is 

rendered absurd or meaningless. State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 

723, 730-31, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). The omission here does not 

undermine the effectiveness of the entire statute; at most, it may 

have kept a purpose of it from being comprehensively effectuated. 

In re Det. of Martin, at 512-13. 

This issue raises a significant constitutional question: Where 

an individual does not fall within the class of people for whom a 

court is statutory authorized to impose civil commitment, is the 

fundamental constitutional right to liberty violated? In Weaver, the 

reviewing court held, "To commit, at least where commitment may 

last for years, is substantive ... it is a long-term deprivation of liberty 

that must be effected with a method approved by the legislative 

representatives of the people." Weaver, at 295. Failure to dismiss 

the petition violated RCW 71.09, which expressly restricts the 

individuals subject to it. The court exceeded its statutory authority 

when it imposed the commitment on Mr. Anderson. 

3. The Court of Appeals Wrongly Cited "Law Of The Case" 

Doctrine To Decline To Revisit Whether Mr. Anderson's 

Sexual Contacts Constituted A Recent Overt Act As A Matter 

Of Law. 

10 
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Relying on the "law of the case" doctrine, the Court of 

Appeals declined to "revisit whether Anderson's sexual contacts 

constitute a recent overt act as a matter of law." Slip Op. at 9. The 

Court of Appeals misapplied the law of the case doctrine and 

erroneously failed to adhere to this Court's ruling regarding the 

requirement that the State prove, in a new trial, that the acts were 

recent and overt. 

In Mr. Anderson's cross-appeal to this Court, after the first 

trial, this Court accepted review of the issue of whether the sexual 

contacts he had with fellow patients at WSH amounted to recent 

overt acts. Anderson, 166 Wn.2d at 545. This Court held, 

"Because Anderson does not challenge the trial court's findings of 

fact in this regard, we treat those findings as true ... Note, however, 

that Anderson will receive a new trial, at which he may challenge all 

findings: /d. at 550; and again, "Anderson's sexual activities at 

WSH could constitute overt acts"; and "Whether or not Anderson's 

conduct amounted to a recent overt act, as with the other elements 

of the State's case, will have to be proved at that new trial." /d. at 

554. 

The requirement to plead and prove a recent overt act under 

RCW 71.09 is founded in due process concerns. In re Pers. 

11 
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Restraint of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 41, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). No 

person may be deprived of "life, liberty, or property, without due 

process of law. U.S. Canst. amends. V, XIV; Wash. Canst. art. 1, § 

3. "Involuntary civil commitment is a substantial curtailment of 

individual liberty so due process is required." In re Det. of Lewis, 

163 Wn.2d 188, 193, 177 P.3d 708 (2008). Moreover, the 

application of constitutional due process guaranty is a question of 

law subject to de novo review. In re Det. of Fair, 167 Wn.2d 357, 

362, 219 P.3d 89 (2009). 

In this case, this Court expressly held that whether the acts 

were recent and overt would need to be proved at a second trial. 

"A decision by the Supreme Court is binding on all lower courts in 

the State ... [l]t is error for the Court of Appeals not to follow directly 

controlling authority by the Supreme Court." State v. Pedro, 148 

Wn.App. 932, 950, 201 P.3d 398 (2009). In declining to review the 

issue raised on appeal, the Court of Appeals' decision is in direct 

conflict with this Court's ruling. 

4. The Acts As Presented At Trial Do Not Amount To 

Recent Overt Acts. 

The four sexual relationships the State presented as 

evidence of recent overt acts took place while Mr. Anderson was a 

12 



voluntary patient at WSH. (RP 466; 468; 470;630). Like him, each 

of the individuals. was housed on the sex offender unit. 

At trial, the treating psychologist at WSH testified that all 

individuals who are civilly committed at WSH whether voluntary or 

involuntary, maintain their civil rights. (RP 786-87); RCW 

71.05.380. By statute, no person "shall be presumed incompetent 

as a consequence of receiving ... voluntary or involuntary treatment 

for a mental disorder; competency shall be determined or 

withdrawn except under the provisions of 10.77 or 11.88 RCW." 

RCW 71.05.360(1 )(b). The treating psychologist also testified that 

WSH policy recognized that patients established close 

relationships, which may involve sexual intimacy. The hospital was 

responsible to prevent exploitation, provide knowledge and means 

to prevent STDS, assist patients to acquire skills to make reasoned 

judgments regarding management of their sexual behavior, and to 

provide a safe enforcement to discuss sexual behavior. (RP 

786;464). Patient, including Mr. Anderson, could and did obtain 

prophylactics such as condoms from the nursing staff. (RP 783-

85). 

By hospital policy, if a developmentally disabled/delayed 

patient engaged ·in sex with another patient and there was a 

13 
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concern regarding capacity to consent, the staff psychiatrist was to 

be informed and an incident report filed. (RP 796). The 

psychiatrist was responsible to determine whether that individual 

had the capacity to consent to sexual activity. (RP 796). If there 

was a complaint about or an incident amounting to a sexual 

assault, as mandatory reporters, the staff at WSH were obligated to 

notify law enforcement. (RP 794-96). 

Although Mr. Anderson was counseled that his partners 

were at a lower level of emotional or intellectual functioning, the 

State presented no evidence establishing the mental age of the 

partners- no evidence that he ever used physical coercion of 

bribery to engage in sexual activity with any partner, and most 

significantly, no incident reports by WSH staff alleging Mr. 

Anderson's partners lacked the capacity to consent to sexual 

activity. (RP 469;472-72; 793;797). Additionally, the hospital 

psychologist testified that each of Mr. Anderson's partners was very 

promiscuous, and at least three of them had believably had sexual 

relations with everyone on the ward. (RP 466; 469;470;642). 

The freedom to engage in private, adult, consensual sexual 

conduct without interference of government is rooted in the 

fundamental right to freedom of association and right to privacy 

14 
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protected by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 484-85, 85 S.Ct. 1678, 14 

L.Ed.2d 510 (1965); State v. Clinkenberd, 130 Wn.App. 552, 561-

62, 123 P.3d 872 (2005). RCW 71.05 does not forbid committed 

patients from engaging in consensual sexual activity. Here, even if 

the individuals were mentally/emotionally challenged, the State did 

not present any evidence that Mr. Anderson's partners had been 

adjudicated as incompetent under RCW 10.77 or 11.88. Further, 

there was no evidence that any of them had previously or since 

been recognized as incapable of consent. 

During Mr. Anderson's stay at WSH, there were no internal 

incident reports about the sexual activity between him and his 

partners and no investigations of whether either Mr. Anderson or 

his partners were incapable of consent. There were no crimes 

reported to law enforcement. As a voluntary patient, Mr. Anderson 

was required to comply with treatment: there was no evidence 

presented at trial suggesting that his sexual relationships were of 

such concern that WSH staff took steps to revoke his stay at the 

hospital to protect others. 

The criminal standard of review applies to a sufficiency of 

the evidence challenge under RCW 71.09.030. Based on the 

15 
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evidence and the law, the State failed to prove an overt act beyond 

a reasonable doubt. 

F. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr: Anderson