RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Mar 30, 2015, 3:31 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

E      CRF  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 91385-4

---

**SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

In re the Detention of John Anderson:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

v.

JOHN ANDERSON,

Petitioner.

---

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

MALCOLM ROSS  
Senior Counsel  
WSBA #22883, OID #91094  
Criminal Justice Division  
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 389-2011

 ORIGINAL

**

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

## **V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

### **A. Standard for Accepting Review**

A petition for review is granted when there is a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and a decision of this Court, a conflict within the Court of Appeals, a significant constitutional question, or a question of significant public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

Although on the third page of his petition Anderson suggests in passing that three of these criteria apply, he never mentions them again or provides any argument supporting acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b). The State is uncertain to which criteria Anderson addresses his arguments. The Court should deny review because of Anderson's failure to address the applicable criteria and because his petition does not present a significant constitutional question, an issue of substantial public interest, or a conflict in Washington appellate law.

**B. The Court of Appeals' Holding That the Trial Court Had Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over the SVP Petition Does Not Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)**

Anderson argued in the trial court and in the Court of Appeals that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. Both courts correctly rejected that argument. In this Court, Anderson attempts to cast his argument as something other than subject matter jurisdiction. He now claims that the trial court exceeded its statutory authority. The Court of Appeals, however, correctly rejected Anderson's subject matter jurisdiction argument and Anderson cannot raise a new claim in his Petition for Review.

**1. Having Challenged Subject Matter Jurisdiction Below Anderson Cannot Raise a New Issue in His Petition For Review**

In November 2012, Anderson filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction based on CR 12(b) and CR 12(h)(3). CP at 144. He argued that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the State's SVP petition. CP at 144. On December 3, 2012, Anderson's trial counsel argued the motion "concerning the subject matter jurisdiction." 12/3/12 VRP at 54, 58. The trial court ruled: "So I am going to deny that motion for subject matter jurisdiction." 12/3/12 VRP at 133.

In his Division II Brief of Appellant, Anderson's first assignment of error reads: "The court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to try Mr. Anderson under RCW 71.09." Brief of Appellant at 1. Anderson's brief then argued that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* at 15. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that "Anderson has failed to define any error regarding RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) as anything other than a lack of subject matter jurisdiction." *Anderson III* at \*4. The court concluded that the superior court had subject matter jurisdiction to preside over an SVP petition and rejected Anderson's challenge. *Id.*

His subject matter jurisdiction claim rejected below, Anderson now claims the trial court "exceeded its statutory authority[.]" Petition for Review at 3. This Court should decline to grant review of this new claim



because it was not raised in either the trial court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 2.5(a); *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214, 222, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003) (generally, parties cannot raise a new issue in a petition for review).

**2. The New Issue Does Not Warrant Review Because There was Statutory Authority to Try the SVP Petition**

Anderson now argues that the trial court lacked statutory authority to hold a trial because RCW 71.09 does not permit a petition to be filed where a person has committed a sexually violent offense as a juvenile and then commits a recent overt act after release from confinement. Petition for Review at 3-10. His foundational premise is that juveniles cannot be “convicted” of offenses and the legislature’s use of that term in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) shows intent to preclude petitions under facts such as those in this case.

Anderson’s claim does not merit review because, while juveniles cannot be considered to be convicted of crimes or felonies, they can be convicted of “offenses,” including, in this case, of a “sexually violent offense.” A plain reading of the statute in the context of related provisions and the statutory scheme as a whole demonstrates that the legislature intended to permit the filing of sexually violent predator petitions under the facts presented here. Thus, this claim in Anderson’s Petition does not

present a significant constitutional question, an issue of substantial public interest, or a conflict in Washington appellate law. RAP 13.4(b).

**a. Applicable Statutory Interpretation Standards**

When interpreting a statute, a court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. *In re Detention of Mines*, 165 Wn. App. 112, 120, 266 P.3d 242 (2011). Where a statute's meaning is plain on its face, a reviewing court must give effect to that plain meaning to carry out legislative intent. *Id.* Plain meaning is derived not only from the ordinary meaning of the statute's language, but also from the context of the statute in which a specific provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. *Id.*

**b. Juveniles Can Be "Convicted" of "Offenses"**

A sexually violent predator, among other things, must have been convicted of a "sexually violent offense." RCW 71.09.020(18). The term "sexually violent offense" includes a number of sexual crimes identified in RCW 71.09.020(17). Additionally, if the person is living in the community when the petition is filed, the State must show the person to be currently dangerous by proving he has committed a "recent overt act." RCW 71.09.020(12), .060(1).

RCW 71.09.030(1) provides, in pertinent part, that a petition "may be filed" when: (e) a person previously *convicted* of a sexually violent

offense who has been released has committed a recent over act (emphasis added). Anderson argues that the term “convicted” in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) indicates the Legislature intended to apply that provision only to those who committed a predicate offense as an adult. Petition for Review at 7-10. He asserts that, based on RCW 13.04.240, juveniles cannot be convicted of crimes.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 7. Thus, he argues, juveniles cannot be considered to have been convicted of a “sexually violent offense” as that term is defined in RCW 71.09.020(17) and used in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e). Anderson is incorrect because juveniles can be convicted of an “offense.” See *State v. Michaelson*, 124 Wn.2d 364, 367, 878 P.2d 1206 (1994) (“While a juvenile cannot be convicted of a felony, he or she can be convicted of an offense as contemplated by RCW 46.20.270(4).”); *State v. McKinley*, 84 Wn. App. 677, 681, 929 P.2d 1145 (1997) (“The term ‘offense’ applies equally to adult and juvenile crimes.”) (citing *In re A, B, C, D, E*, 121 Wn.2d 80, 87, 847 P.2d 455 (1993)).

This Court has noted that other juvenile justice statutes often use the term “conviction” to apply to both juvenile and adult offenses. *Juveniles A, B, C, D, E*, 121 Wn.2d at 87-88 (statute mandating HIV

---

<sup>3</sup> RCW 13.04.240 provides: “An order of court adjudging a child a juvenile offender or dependent under the provisions of this chapter shall in no case be deemed a conviction of crime.”

testing for sexual offenders applies to juvenile sex offenders). The Court noted that “the Legislature’s use of ‘conviction’ in statutes to refer to juveniles appears to be endemic.” *Id.* at 87 (citing other statutes).

Here, the plain language of RCW 71.09 authorizes petitions against individuals whose predicate offenses were committed when they were juveniles. First, its notification procedures explicitly include juvenile offenders in the class of those whose imminent release from confinement requires a referral to a prosecuting attorney. RCW 71.09.025(1)(a)(ii). Second, RCW 71.09.030(1)(b) explicitly includes juvenile offenders who are about to be released from confinement in the group of individuals against whom petitions can be filed. *Dependency of Q.L.M. v. State, Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 105 Wn. App. 532, 536-37, 20 P.3d 465 (2001) (citing RCW 71.09.030). Because those who commit offenses as juveniles can be considered to have been “convicted” of an offense, the Legislature included in RCW 71.09.030(1)(e) offenders who were “convicted” of a sexually violent offense as a juvenile and who later commit a “recent overt act.” The plain language of the statute compels this conclusion.

It is clear the Legislature frequently uses the term “convicted” to refer to juvenile adjudications. The endemic use of the term shows the Legislature did not intend to exclude those with juvenile predicate

offenses when it adopted RCW 71.09.030(1)(e). Anderson's argument should be rejected and his civil commitment order affirmed.

**C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Anderson's Sexual Acts at Western State Hospital Could Constitute Recent Overt Acts as a Matter of Law**

Anderson argues that what he characterizes as consensual adult sexual activity cannot constitute a recent overt act.<sup>4</sup> Petition for Review at 10-12. But the issue of whether predatory sexual behavior with adults can legally constitute a recent overt act in a case involving a pedophilia diagnosis was already decided in *Anderson II*. This issue does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b).

Anderson's argument misinterprets the prior holding from *Anderson II*. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected his argument because the issue was already decided against him in the prior appeal. *Anderson II*, 166 Wn.2d at 550 ("Anderson's sexual activities at WSH could constitute overt acts."). In so deciding, *Anderson II* noted that confined pedophiles may sometimes use vulnerable adults when their preferred victims are unavailable. *Id.* at n.6 ("This court has previously decided that sex with a developmentally disabled person may have a nexus

---

<sup>4</sup> RCW 71.09.020(12) defines "recent overt act" as follows:

"Recent over act" means any act, threat, or combination thereof that has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors.

to child sex.”) (citing *In re Detention of Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d 150, 159, 125 P.3d 111 (2005)).

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that this holding was the law of the case at the trial below and that, while the State would still have to prove that Anderson committed the alleged acts, the legal issue had been decided:

Our Supreme Court held that Anderson’s sexual contacts with vulnerable WSH patients, whether consensual or not, could constitute a “recent overt act” as a matter of law. *Anderson II*, 166 Wn.2d at 550. Under the law of the case doctrine we will not revisit whether Anderson’s sexual contacts constitute a recent overt act as a matter of law. To the extent Anderson argues that insufficient evidence supports a factual finding that his sexual contacts meet the definition of recent overt act, his argument is addressed below.

*Anderson III*, 2015 WL 422973 at \*4-5.

Anderson appears to confuse the issue of whether sex with vulnerable adults could constitute a recent overt act as a matter of law, with whether the State was required to prove a recent overt act at trial. Petition for Review at 12 (“In this case, this Court expressly held that whether the acts were recent and overt would need to be proved at a second trial. . . . In declining to review the issue raised on appeal, the Court of Appeals’ decision is in direct conflict with this Court’s ruling.”). The recent overt act issue, however, was: (1) alleged by the State;

(2) the subject of extensive testimony presented by both parties at trial; (3) an element on which the jury was instructed; and (4) an element the jury found to have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt by the State. CP at 755, 772.

Anderson also asserts that the overt acts alleged by the State cannot be considered “recent” because they occurred from 1990 through 1999 and can therefore have no bearing on his current dangerousness. He again raises an issue which is controlled by the law of this case. *Anderson II*, 166 Wn.2d at 550 (“Anderson’s overt acts were recent.”). Anderson has not shown any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for reviewing *Anderson III* and his petition should be denied.

**D. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the State Had Proved Anderson Committed a Recent Overt Act**

Anderson challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the jury’s finding that he committed a recent overt act. The State produced substantial evidence that Anderson’s sexual relationships with four vulnerable and mentally disabled WSH patients constituted recent overt acts. The State’s expert, Dr. Phenix, considered Anderson’s sexual acts with vulnerable patients that occurred from 1990 through 1999 and opined that he had committed recent overt acts. RP 627-28, 634. She testified it was not an unusual occurrence, as recognized by professionals in her field

of expertise, that persons with pedophilia sometimes turn towards other types of victims when children are not available. RP 632. A key link is that children are vulnerable, and so were the WSH patients. RP 629.

Dr. Phenix testified:

So there is a parallel of taking advantage of vulnerable people that you can have control over and recognizing that they are really immature and child-like, similar to the kinds of victims that he had in the community.

RP 629. In fact, a major goal of sex offender treatment is to stop the person from targeting people who are child-like and vulnerable due to mental disability. RP 632-33. Dr. Phenix discussed her knowledge of each of the four men Anderson targeted, why their disabilities made them vulnerable and why these acts led her to believe that Anderson was currently dangerous. RP 628-32.

Dr. Larry Arnholt also testified about the vulnerabilities of the four men with whom Anderson had sexual contact and his concern about Anderson's behaviors. RP 466-71. He and Anderson's treatment team tried to get Anderson to stop having sex with vulnerable patients; they made it clear to him that it was similar to his offending against children.

RP 817. Dr. Arnholt testified:

Yes, there were many occasions when it was pointed out to Mr. Anderson that the developmentally disabled individuals are in many ways child-like in their emotional



and intellectual development, and there were some parallels.

RP 817. Anderson understood what they were telling him. RP 818. He was quite intelligent and had a “cognitive emotional power differential” with the vulnerable residents. RP 818. That is to say, his high functioning gave him a position of power on the unit. RP 818. Yet, he told Dr. Arnholt that he sometimes “felt powerless” to stop having sex with a vulnerable patient. RP 819. At one point, Anderson told Dr. Arnholt there had been an “improvement” in his relations with a vulnerable patient because, instead of having the patient fellate him, Anderson had the patient anally penetrate him. RP 819-20. That patient immediately afterward decompensated and regressed in his treatment. RP 820. Dr. Arnholt also acknowledged an incident in August 1999, when WSH staff intervened because Anderson was circling a tub in which a patient was bathing, while holding his erect penis in his hand. RP 823.

Anderson’s overt acts must be viewed in light of his WSH confinement. “[I]n considering whether an overt act, evidencing dangerousness, satisfies the recentness requirement, it is appropriate to consider the time span in the context of all the surrounding relevant circumstances.” *In re Pugh*, 68 Wn. App. 687, 695-96, 845 P.2d 1034

(1993); *See also Froats v. State*, 134 Wn. App. 420, 437-40, 140 P.3d 622 (2006).


Lastly, it is the law of this case that, in determining whether Anderson's overt acts were recent, relevant periods of confinement and whether he had access to victims were to be considered. That was the trial court's instruction to the jury, and Anderson has not challenged that instruction. *See* CP at 761. Taking into account the law of this case, and viewing the evidence in light of Anderson's confinement and lack of access to child victims, the overt acts proved by the State must be considered recent at the time the State filed the SVP petition.

## VI. CONCLUSION

Anderson has not established a basis for review by this Court. The State respectfully requests that the Court deny his petition for review.